1995

Louis J. Malek v. Scott V. Carver : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner/Appellant is not an attorney at law, nor lettered in law or otherwise. In the absence of any law library or legal research facilities at the Utah State Prison, Petitioner-Appellant will attempt to state his points on appeal in plain English utilizing the limited legal resources he has at his disposal. Petitioner/Appellant prays this Court will view his pleadings, briefs, etc. with the leniency the U.S. Supreme Court

spoke of in Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519 (1972).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about March 3, 1993, Petitioner filed Petition for Extraordinary Relief in the Third Judicial District Court pro se. In the petition it was alleged that he had undergone an illegal and or improper "sentence correction" before Judge Kenneth Rigtrup of the Third District Court in a previous petition for habeas corpus upon which he had prevailed. The crux of this matter was that when Judge Rigtrup had corrected his sentence he was not credited for the nine (9) years he had already served on the sentence; and when Judge Rigtrup "corrected" Petitioner Malek's sentence it was stated to run consecutive with a previous term which had already naturally expired.

From this point on the case has a rather lengthy history. Petitioner filed several motions for preliminary judgment subsequent to March 1993. The District Court certified this case as not being frivolous around June or July 1993 when Petitioner-Appellant filed for Mandamus in the Utah Supreme Court. Petitioner-Appellant dismissed this action seeking Mandamus when Judge Kenneth Rigtrup held a hearing and appointed counsel to assist Petitioner-Appellant. The parties engaged in discovery and in January 1994 the complete Board of Pardons file on Petitioner-Appellant was released to counsel. Subsequently, in view of the Utah Supreme Court's decision in Labrum v. Utah Bd. Of Pardons, 870 P.2d ____ (Utah 1993), counsel for the Respondents Lorenzo K. Miller, Assistant Utah Attorney General, admitted the

Petitioner-Appellant was due a new Board hearing as he had a valid due process claim pending when Labrum was decided.

Several months later, Respondents' position changed. The Respondents' advanced that Petitioner-Appellant had already had two (2) hearings the previous year and even though the Petitioner-Appellant was continued pending "neurological and neuro-psychological" testing based upon a report done by a psychologist unlicensed under Utah Law, the Board stated the Petitioner-Appellant was now due no further consideration.

Petitioner, with assistance of counsel, moved for an evidentiary hearing. This hearing was ultimately held on March 31, 1995. The District Court, Judge Kenneth Rigtrup presiding, granted Petitioner-Appellant's petition for extraordinary relief as it was shown there were many errors contained within Petitioner-Appellant's prison and Board of Pardons files. Petitioner-Appellant's counsel drafted several proposed final orders to which counsel for Respondents' repeatedly objected. Another hearing was held on July 10, 1995, where counsel for Respondents' stubbornly insisted that Petitioner-Appellant's previous Manslaughter conviction comprised the "Murder, First Degree" conviction mentioned throughout his Board of Pardons file; ultimately, at a hearing on August 21, 1995, a final order was drafted in the case and was signed at approximately 5:00 p.m. All references in Petitioner-Appellant's Board and prison files referring to "Murder, First Degree, Aggravated Murder, or First Degree Murder," were ordered to be expunged or redacted.

The Petitioner-Appellant attended a Special Attention hearing before the Utah Board of Pardons the next day, August 22, 1995, at 11:50 a.m., where the ultimate decision was that "any factual errors as alleged by Petitioner/Appellant were immaterial to the Board's decision." However, at both Petitioner-Appellant's September 1993 Board hearing and his September 1994 hearing the Board utilized the same report which the District Court had found to contain errors to continue Petitioner-Appellant without parole.

These comprise three (3) separate Board hearings where a document (psychological assessment) proven to contain errors, notwithstanding that the psychologist who performed the assessment was unlicensed, was utilized as rationale for Petitioner-Appellant's denial of parole.

Argument

Point I

I. The District Court erred in not stating for the record Petitioner/Appellant's prior service of sentence, and by not providing a mechanism for the enforcement of its order of expungement/redaction.

Petitioner/Appellant will concede that under current precedent the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole is the proper entity to credit time served on a sentence, see e.g. State v. Schreuder, 712 P.2d 264 (Utah 1985); and State v. Drobek, 815 P.2d 724, 737 (Utah App. 1991). However, Petitioner/Appellant advances that the Court that sentences, or in this case, the Court that "corrects" a sentence pursuant to Rule 22(e) U.R.Cr.P. under the grant of a petition for extraordinary relief should

state for the record the amount of time a defendant has served in order that the Utah Board of Pardons can properly credit a defendant for service of sentence according their own rules. See Rule R671-205-2 Utah Administrative Code (UAC) Board of Pardons Rules "Credit for Time Served."

In this case, Judge Rigtrup failed to enter such record when he "corrected" Petitioner/Appellant's sentence in Malek v. Jorgensen, 3rd Dist. No. 910902392 HC. Further, Judge Rigtrup failed to acknowledge this deficiency in Malek v. Carver, 3rd Dist. No. 930901212 HC, or enter a nunc pro tunc order crediting Petitioner/Appellant for the nearly nine (9) years of service on his sentences.

This error requires remand for entry of a proper order crediting Petitioner/Appellant for this nine (9) years he had served prior to the sentence "correction" in 1992. See Sec. 76-3-405 Utah Code Ann.

Additionally, when Judge Rigtrup did enter the order in Malek v. Carver, 3rd Dist. No. 930901212 HC, directing that all references to improper charges be redacted/expunged from Petitioner/Appellant's prison files, he failed to provide an effective mechanism for the enforcement of this order. See Final Order Malek v. Carver, 3rd Dist. No. 930901212 HC, dated August 21, 1995. This deficiency requires remedy as well. For it can be seen that the Board and the Utah State Prison have refused to change the information regarding the charge for which the Petitioner-Appellant is incarcerated. Attachments 3, 4, and 5,

show that at one month, three months, and six months after the Third District Court's Final Order in Malek v. Carver, 3rd Dist. No. 930901212 HC, which was signed on August 21, 1995; the Respondents' still continue to list Petitioner-Appellant's charge as Sec. 76-5-202 U.C.A, which is Murder, First Degree. See Attachments 3, 4, and 5.

Point II

II. The Petitioner-Appellant has a constitutional right to be considered for parole based on correct and accurate information. For the Board of Pardons to have done otherwise has caused him to be treated arbitrarily and capriciously.

Petitioner-Appellant has a constitutional right to be considered for parole based upon accurate information and to have accurate information in his parole file when this is relied upon in the setting of a parole date. See e.g. Lowrance v. Coughlin, 862 F.Supp. 1090, 1119 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); Monroe v. Thigpen, 932 F.2d 1437, 1442 (11th Cir. 1991); and Labrum v. Utah Bd. Of Pardons, 870 P.2d ____ (Utah 1993).

In this case not only were improper charges and references used in Petitioner-Appellant's parole consideration process, but even after the Court ordered the redaction/expungement of these references, the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole refused to remove these references and further, they refused to acknowledge their use of this material in the parole process. See Attachments A, B, C, D, and E.

As can be seen from Attachment A, the Board relied on the a psychological report that was later found to contain errors in coming to a decision regarding Petitioner-Appellant's parole in

September 1994. See Attachment A, decision of Board from September 1994 hearing and Final Order Malek v. Carver 3rd Dist no. 930901212 HC, dated August 21, 1995.

In fact, the Board met the very day after this order was issued and in denying Petitioner-Appellant Malek a parole date once again, stated that those factual errors the Court found in granting extraordinary relief "were immaterial" to the Board's decision. See Attachment B, decision of Board from August 22, 1995, hearing.

In Monroe v. Thigpen, 932 F.2d 1437, 1442 (11th Cir. 1991), the Eleventh Circuit stated that the Alabama Board of Pardons and Parole abused its discretion by relying on admittedly false information in determining whether to grant parole. Monroe is similar to the instant case in that the Board admittedly used false information in its parole decision making process and the inmate's prison file contained false information. The Eleventh Circuit held that its ruling was totally consistent with Greenholtz v. Inmates of Nebraska Penal Complex, 442 U.S. 1 (1979), because this landmark United States Supreme Court decision "can in no way authorize state officials to knowingly use false information in making their parole determinations." Monroe, 932 F.2d at 1442, n.11.

In this case, the decision sheet issued by the Board as a mandate of Section 77-27-7(2) of the Utah Code, which states that the Board will reduce their decision to writing, in September of 1994, states that the reason for the denial of Petitioner-

Appellant's application for parole was the "negative psychological." See Attachment A, Board decision sheet in Malek, Louis J., USP# 14043, dated Oct. 24, 1994. Subsequently, the Third District Court found errors in the psychological assessment relating to the improper reference to charges for which Petitioner-Appellant had never been convicted. See Final Order Malek v. Carver, 3rd Dist. No. 930901212 HC, dated August 21, 1995. Then, in hearing the Petitioner the very next day, the Board issued a decision that "any factual errors as alleged by Mr. Malek regarding the psychological report are immaterial to the Board's decision." See Attachment B, Board decision sheet in Malek, Louis J., USP# 14043, dated Aug. 23, 1995.

In Monroe, the court concluded that by relying on false information in the prisoner's file, the board had exceeded its authority and treated him arbitrarily and capriciously in violation of his due process rights. This parallels a case in the Tenth Circuit, coincidentally from Utah, Alvarez v. Turner, 422 F.2d 214, 220 (10th Cir. 1970), where the Court held that ". . .The [prisoner has] the right to be free from pure caprice on the part of the discretionary authority before whom the [parole] proceedings occur." Certainly, the Board's failure to accord that there were errors in the psychological report, improper references to offenses for which Petitioner-Appellant had neither been charged or convicted; then, for the same Board to allow their previous decision, which had been solely based on this prejudicial mis-information, to stand and boldly state that "any

factual errors as alleged by Mr. Malek are immaterial," have denied Petitioner-Appellant Malek's rights and have prejudiced him in the process.

The Utah Board of Pardons and Parole is performing a sentencing function by establishing a parole date, it is "governed by consitutional requirements addressing fairness in the decision-making process." *Rawlings v. Holden*, 231 Utah Adv, Rep. 17, 18 (1994). Further, the Petitioner-Appellant is entitled to a fair and unbiased hearing before a parole board that is free from bias or prejudice. See O'Bremski v. Maass, 915 F.2d 418 (9th Cir. 1990); and also Padilla v. Utah Bd. of Pardons, ___ P.2d ___ (Utah App. 1992). The comments and inappropriate references made by Mr. Lorenzo K. Miller, Assistant Utah Attorney General, before the Third District Court, at the July 10, 1995, hearing and at other hearings, regarding Petitioner-Appellant's Manslaughter conviction comprising "Murder, First Degree" have prejudiced the Petitioner-Appellant, not only before the Courts, but before the Board as well. Mr. Miller's numerous references to "the only reason Malek sues the Board is he doesn't like what they are doing to him," may have some truth in that Petitioner-Appellant does not wish to be considered for parole based on offenses he has not committed or based on spurious psychological reports done by unlicensed persons. However, in State v. Tillman, the Court explained that the State's "obligation is to insure that justice is done. That obligation does not include or authorize over-reaching,

exaggeration, or any form of personalizing. . ." Tillman, 750 P.2d at 557 (Utah 1987).

It is well established that a prosecutor or attorney who represents the State's interests does not represent an entity whose interests include winning at all costs, a prosecutor or state's attorney's client is society, "which seeks justice not victory." U.S. v. Doe, 860 P.2d 488 (1st Cir. 1988); and Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935)("[I]mproper suggestions, insinuations, and especially assertions of personal knowledge are apt to carry much weight against the accused when they should properly carry none.") Here, in a civil matter, rather than leave any determination of facts or credibility to the Judge, Mr. Miller repeatedly insinuated matters not in evidence, injected his own personal opinion. The effect of such such statements by the Board of Pardons legal representative cannot be overplayed. The Respondents' put forth a tremendous effort when faced with Petitioner-Appellant's efforts to secure transcripts of the proceedings in District Court. And as Petitioner-Appellant is impecunious and was unable to afford transcripts, such evidence is not directly available. Still, the evidence of the actions taken as a result of such matters are before this Court. The simple statement that "any factual errors as alleged by Mr. Malek regarding the psychological report are immaterial to the Board's decision" are evidence of the arbitrary treatment of Petitioner. These errors were proven in a court of law, a court that was fully aware of the Petitioner's prior offense. Such a statement