1995

## Louis J. Malek v. Scott V. Carver : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(k) (Supp. 1995).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Because it was not properly before the district court, the court did not err in declining to address petitioner Louis J. Malek's claim concerning credit for time served.

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** Because the district court did not address this issue, no standard of review is applicable.

2. The district court did not fail to provide in its order granting Malek's petition for extraordinary relief a mechanism for the enforcement thereof.

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** On review of the district court's grant of a petition for an extraordinary writ, this Court reviews the lower court's conclusions of law for correctness. Stewart v. State By and Through Deland, 830 P.2d 306, 309 (Utah App. 1992).

3. Malek's third issue, whether the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole has implemented the district court's order granting Malek's petition for extraordinary relief, is not properly before this court on this appeal and therefore should not be addressed.

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** Because the district court did not address this issue, no standard of review is applicable.

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES**

To the best of Appellees' knowledge, there are no constitutional provisions or statutes that are pertinent to resolution of the issues before this Court.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. NATURE OF THE CASE**

Petitioner Louis J. Malek filed a petition for extraordinary relief against respondents on March 3, 1993, R. at 1-23, alleging in part that the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole (the Board) violated his due process rights under the Utah Constitution by including in his Board file "crimes for which he was neither charged nor convicted." R. at 5. Additionally, Malek alleged that Judge Rigtrup had improperly resentenced him in an unrelated case, Malek v. Jorgensen, Civil No. 910902392 HC. R. at 2-3.

Malek subsequently filed a first amended petition for extraordinary relief, R. at 40-63, and a second amended petition for extraordinary relief, R. at 286-93. Although Malek's first amended petition reiterated both claims, his second amended petition, filed after he had been appointed counsel, only raised the claim that his Board file contained erroneous information.

Specifically, Malek's second amended petition stated that his Board file inaccurately showed that he had a first degree murder arrest or conviction. R. at 288.

#### **B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW**

Following an evidentiary hearing on March 31, 1995, the district court granted Malek's second amended petition for extraordinary relief and entered findings of fact, conclusions of law, and an order that "[a]ll references in the Board's file to the alleged offense of 'Murder,' 'Murder I,' 'Murder, 1st degree,' 'Aggravated Murder' or any other similar terms shall be expunged and shall not be considered in the future by the Board." R. at 426. (A copy of the district court's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and order is attached hereto as Addendum A.) Malek subsequently filed the instant appeal,<sup>1</sup> alleging that the district court erred in "correcting" his sentence in Malek v. Jorgensen and erred in failing to provide an effective mechanism for the enforcement of its order granting Malek's petition for extraordinary relief in this case. He further asserted that the Board has refused to expunge the above references in violation of the district court's order.

#### **C. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

On July 8, 1983, Malek was sentenced to serve two five-year-to-life sentences for aggravated robbery, a first degree felony, and attempted criminal homicide, a first degree

---

<sup>1</sup>Malek originally filed his appeal in the Utah Supreme Court, which poured the matter over to this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4) (Supp. 1995).



felony. R. at 423-24. Since his incarceration in the Utah State Prison, Malek has appeared before the Board on several occasions, seeking parole or an early release date. R. at 424. In denying these requests, the Board has considered the materials in Malek's file, some of which contained references to "Murder," "Murder I," "Murder, 1st degree," or "Aggravated Murder." Id. However, Malek has never been convicted of any of these offenses. Id.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner Louis J. Malek has failed to show any deficiency in the district court's order from which he appeals, and thus, his appeal from that order should be dismissed. First, it was not improper for the district court to decline to address Malek's claim concerning credit for time served because that claim was not properly before that court. Specifically, that claim solely pertains to an entirely unrelated case and was abandoned prior to the filing of Malek's second amended petition for extraordinary relief. Second, the district court did not fail to provide in its order granting Malek's petition for extraordinary relief a mechanism for the enforcement thereof. The order is mandatory on its face and thus needs no mechanism to compel its execution. Lastly, Malek's third issue, whether the Board has refused to implement the district court's order granting Malek's petition for extraordinary relief, is not properly before this court on this appeal. It should not, therefore, be addressed.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLINING TO ADDRESS MALEK'S CLAIM CONCERNING CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED**

On appeal, Malek asserts that the district court erred in not "stat[ing] for the record the amount of time a defendant has served in order that the Utah Board of Pardons can properly credit a defendant for service of sentence according to their own rules." Specifically, Malek complains that "Judge Rigtrup failed to enter such record when he 'corrected' Petitioner/Appellant's sentence in Malek v. Jorgensen, 3rd. Dist. No. 910902392 HC."

However, it is axiomatic that a trial court does not commit error by declining to address an issue that is not properly before it. Golding v. Ashley Cent. Irrigation Co., 902 P.2d 142, 148 (Utah 1995). Additionally, it is well settled that in order for an issue to be raised on appeal, it must generally first be raised before the trial court. Kennecott Corp. v. State Tax Comm'n, 862 P.2d 1348, 1352 (Utah 1993); Ong Int'l (U.S.A.), Inc. v. 11th Ave. Corp., 850 P.2d 447, 455 (Utah 1993).

Turning to the present case, it is clear from the record on appeal that Malek's claim that Judge Rigtrup had improperly resentenced him in Malek v. Jorgensen was abandoned prior to the filing of Malek's second amended petition for extraordinary relief. That document, filed by Malek's counsel after he had been appointed by the district court, makes no mention of Malek's claim concerning credit for time served. Thus, that issue was not properly before the district court at the time the court

entered its order and the court did not err in declining to address it. See Golding, 902 P.2d at 148. Likewise, because the issue was never properly presented to the trial court, it cannot now be raised on appeal. See Kennecott, 862 P.2d at 1352; Ong Int'l, 850 P.2d at 455.

Moreover, it was not improper for Malek's counsel to abandon this claim in the second amended complaint because it pertained to an entirely unrelated case. The record on appeal in this case indicates that Judge Rigtrup has had two unrelated cases filed by Malek before him. The first case was Malek v. Jorgensen, Civil No. 910902392 HC, and the second is the present case, Malek v. Carver, Civil No. 930901212 HC. The former pertained to Malek's claim that he had not been properly credited for time served; the latter concerns Malek's claim that his Board file contains inaccurate information. Because these are separate and unrelated matters, any alleged deficiency relating to the other case cannot be properly raised in this case. Thus, Malek's counsel properly abandoned this claim in the second amended complaint. Consequently, this claim was not properly before the district court, the court did not err in failing to address it, and Malek may not now raise this issue on appeal.

**II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT FAIL TO  
PROVIDE A MECHANISM FOR ENFORCING ITS ORDER  
GRANTING MALEK'S PETITION FOR EXTRAORDINARY  
RELIEF**

On appeal, Malek asserts that "when Judge Rigtrup did enter the order in Malek v. Carver, 3rd Dist No. 930901212 HC, directing that all references to improper charges be

redacted/expunged from Petitioner/Appellant's prison files, he failed to provide an effective mechanism for the enforcement of this order." This claim, too, is without merit.

In its order granting Malek's petition for extraordinary relief, the district court specifically stated: "All references in the Board's file to the alleged offense of 'Murder,' 'Murder I,' 'Murder, 1st degree,' 'Aggravated Murder' or any other similar terms shall be expunged and shall not be considered in the future by the Board." (Emphasis added.) Given the mandatory nature of the language contained in the district court's order, it was clearly sufficient without further direction to require enforcement. See, e.g., Jones v. Bountiful City Corp., 834 P.2d 556, 559 (Utah App. 1992) (use of term "shall" is presumed mandatory rather than discretionary); Board of Educ. of Granite Sch. Dist. v. Salt Lake County, 659 P.2d 1030, 1035 (Utah 1983) (same); State v. Zeimer, 10 Utah 2d 45, 48, 347 P.2d 1111, 1113 (1960) (same). Thus, there is no need for a "mechanism" in the district court's order to compel the execution thereof. Accordingly, Malek's claim that the district court's order was insufficient to require enforcement fails.

**III. THE BOARD'S ALLEGED REFUSAL TO  
IMPLEMENT THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER GRANTING  
MALEK'S PETITION FOR EXTRAORDINARY RELIEF IS  
NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT ON THIS APPEAL**

Lastly, Malek alleges on appeal that, subsequent to the district court's order granting his petition for extraordinary relief, the Board has refused to expunge the ordered references from its files, in violation of the district court's order.


However, regardless of whether these allegations are true or false, this claim is not properly before this court on this appeal. It is clear that if Malek wants to challenge the actions by the Board subsequent to the district court's order granting his petition for extraordinary relief in this case, the proper approach for so doing is to file an action in the district court to enforce its order (i.e., a motion for a contempt order), not to appeal the district court's order to this Court. In fact, given the fact that all the alleged events giving rise to this claim have occurred after the district court's entry of its order in this matter, such a claim simply cannot be viewed as within the purview of an appeal from the district court's order here.

Moreover, even if an appeal from the district court's order granting Malek's petition for extraordinary relief were somehow the proper avenue by which to raise such a claim, the record on appeal is completely devoid of any evidence whatsoever to support Malek's allegations that the Board has refused to expunge the ordered references. Accordingly, this Court should decline to address Malek's third claim on appeal as being outside the bounds of this appeal.

#### **CONCLUSION**

On the basis of the foregoing, Malek's appeal from the district court's order granting his petition for extraordinary relief should be dismissed.